

Milk Consumption, Raw and General, in the Discussion on Health or Hazard

Ton Baars

Research Institute of Organic Agriculture (FiBL), Ackerstrasse 113, 5070 Frick, Switzerland; Research Institute at Juchowo Farm, Juchowo 54 A, 78 - 446 Silnowo, Poland

In the last decade, consumption of raw milk, milk in general and milk fats suffers from an adverse nutritional and health image and therefore mixed messages are present among consumers. Milk products contain a range of bio-active contents related to health regulation. Heating destroys not only unwanted and beneficial bacteria in milk, but also changes the activity of enzymes and peptides. In this review, attention is paid to the benefits of milk consumption for asthma, allergies and atopy. Raw milk is a single protective factor for asthma and allergies in children. Also milk fat protects against asthma and within the milk fatty acid composition especially the markers rumenic acid and trans-vaccenic acid, are inversely associated with asthma and atopy. From the position of governmental agencies and medical societies, it is not advised to consume any raw milk. It is argued that raw milk can be dangerous due to the potential presence of zoonotic bacteria. In this article special attention is paid to a vero-toxicin producing E. coli. This category of virulent bacteria can be present in the intestines, faeces, skin and environment of ruminating animals. In young children, the physical contact with farm animals as well as raw milk intake are therefore included as risk factors. Another potential danger from the consumption of raw foods including raw milk is the spread to humans of antibiotic resistance forms of bacteria. A differentiation of milk qualities is necessary (produced for direct consumption purpose versus meant for pasteurisation), because part of the population wants to drink raw milk to promote their health. Raw milk is produced in several countries as certified Grade-A milk. Hygienic control of this certified milk demonstrates that the risk of zoonotic transfer can be significantly reduced. Since the evidence has increased that raw milk and specific components of milk are protective for human illnesses like asthma and atopy, a re-evaluation of raw milk consumption as well as the intake of beneficial components of milk from grazing animals is needed.

Keywords: Raw Milk, Fatty Acids, Asthma and Allergies, EHEC, Health Discussion.

CONTENTS

1	Introduction: (Raw) Full-Fat Milk Consumption	91
2.	Epidemiology of Farm Milk and Asthma and Allergies	92
3.	Milk Fats and Protection Against Asthma and Allergies	94
4.	Changes of Milk After Heat Treatment	95
	4.1. Effects of Heat Treatment on Milk Contents	95
	4.2. Changes in Allergenicity Due to Heating of Milk	96
5.	Studies on Health, Growth and Reproduction	97
	5.1. Animal Studies	97
	5.2. Human Studies	98
6.	Raw Milk Risks	98
	6.1. Raw Milk and the Distribution of AB Resistance Genes	98
	6.2. Raw Milk, Safety and Zoonotic Bacteria	99
7.	Dealing with Risks	101
	7.1. Reducing Risks by Adopted Regulations	102
8.	Conclusion: Raw Milk, Health or Hazard	103
	Acknowledgments	104
	References and Notes	104

1. INTRODUCTION: (RAW) FULL-FAT MILK CONSUMPTION

Human beings have co-evolved with farm animals and during 8,000 years of agriculture man has adapted to the consumption of raw milk and milk products from ruminating animals. As a cultural characteristic large numbers of human beings, especially those with Caucasian background, developed a genetic adaptation to digest lactose after the suckle phase (lactose-tolerance), a feature not found in other mammals.¹

Nowadays consumption patterns of milk products that were built up over centuries are under attack. The quality of milk is controversially discussed in relation to potential negative health impacts or dangers facing the claims on health promotion of milk intake in general, milk fats² and raw milk chiefly.^{3,4} In the 1970s and 1980s, medical

societies and government agencies recommend reducing the intake of saturated fat;⁵ milk products should be taken as the low-fat or no-fat variant, because of the epidemic of overweight and cardiovascular problems. There is a warning for the consumption of animal fats, especially n-6 fatty acids (FA) and trans-fats. There is an attack on the consumption of all trans-fats, fats from ruminating animals included. A characteristic feature of milk fat from grazing animals, however, is the high level of rumenic acid (C18:2c9t11) and its precursor vaccenic acid (C18:1t11) as characteristic part of the ruminal trans-fats.^{6,7} Finally, there is a controversy about how to deal with the epidemiologic findings on raw milk consumption and the inverse incidence of asthma/eczema and milk-allergies in children?⁸⁻¹⁰ Since the zoonotic dangers of any raw milk consumption are judged to be unavoidable,³ official governmental bodies advise that milk should only be consumed after heat treatment. This advice targets pregnant women, young children, older adults or people with weakened immune systems. The listed doubts about milk consumption leads to the question raised:11 does raw milk consumption lead to health support in terms of tolerance for lactose digestion, prevention of asthma and reduction of milk allergy or should it be seen as a potential health hazard due to the presence of zoonotic bacteria?

The goal of this review paper is to reflect on the relation of asthma and allergies to raw milk and milk fat consumption, to reflect on effects of heat treatment on raw milk properties and to evaluate clinical trials from raw milk consumptions in animal and man; risk of raw milk consumption will be discussed in relation to the potential for transfer of antibiotic resistance as well as zoonotic disease through milk. Information concerning the enterohemolytic (EHEC) and shiga-toxin producing (STEC) subtypes of *E. coli* are taken as an example.

2. EPIDEMIOLOGY OF FARM MILK AND ASTHMA AND ALLERGIES

A model to explain the increase of asthma and allergies within westernised societies is based on the hygiene hypothesis.¹² A mixture of new lifestyle factors is involved in modern living, among others the increased hygienestandards and disinfectants in households, the repeated use of antibiotics and anthelmintics in early life, the smaller family size and the reduced intake of fermented foods rich in Lactobacilli.¹³ Studies on a more traditional lifestyle within Western societies showed that children aged 6–15 with an anthroposophical lifestyle had less atopic disorders than control children. Elements of this lifestyle associated with improved health were the reduced use of antibiotics and antipyretics, longer breastfeeding, less active immunisation in early life and the consumption of organic as well as fermented foods with active lactobacilli.^{14, 15}

Braun-Fahrländer and Mutius9 reviewed eleven epidemiological studies in relation to asthma and allergies among farm children. The studies could show that children who grew up on dairy farms and consumed un-boiled, fresh farm milk were strongly protected from asthma, hay fever and allergic sensitization. In the ALEX-study, the protective impact from the farming environment as well as the farm milk consumption by both pregnant mothers and their newborns in their first year of life on later emerging asthma and allergies at primary school age was shown.¹⁶ Later in the PARSIFAL study, the protection of farm milk in both farm and non-farm children was found.¹⁷ Bieli et al.¹⁸ showed the impact of the genetic component and made clear that several genotypes of children were better protected than others. In contrast to the epidemiological studies in Central Europe (ALEX, PASTURE), which were done on smaller sized family farms and where the total farm families were strongly involved in the daily handling of their cattle, also children at larger dairy farms in Shropshire (UK) were investigated.8 The authors compared three groups: farm children, non-farm children living in villages in the countryside and children whose fathers were farm labourers, but not living on farms, thereby separating the effects from 'living on the farm' and 'raw milk consumption.' Based on IgE skin prick test reaction to allergens in all three groups of children, an inverse relation was found for asthma and atopy with the consumption of raw farm milk, independent of the farm status of the child. Additionally, the authors found as a second pattern a volume of consumption effect, which showed that protection



Ton Baars is a researcher for milk quality in relation to animal and human health aspects. Since 2011 he held a position at The Research Institute of Organic Agriculure (FiBL) in Frick (CH) as well as a research position at the biodynamic farm Juchowo Farm (Silnowo, Pl). In Poland he is building up a research institute for applied organic research. As a trained agronomic ecologist he worked 25 years in The Netherlands at applied research in organic animal husbandry, and later he held a position as Professor for biodynamic Agriculture at Kassel University (2005–2011). At Kassel University research projects have been taken up about raw milk quality and human health. His main focus is on ways to develop raw milk products, which are safe for direct consumption and has a high inner quality to protect and support human health.

was greater if raw milk was more frequently consumed. A differentiation was made according to the symptoms, and unpasteurised milk was inversely associated with current eczema symptoms and seasonal allergic rhinitis, but not with current asthma symptoms. This contrasts with the protective effect of the farming status of the child that protected for asthma and allergic rhinitis, but not eczema. This was confirmed among Greek children¹⁹ as well as among Northern-German children,²⁰ who showed reduced atopy after raw milk intake. Protective effects from both raw milk and yoghurt intake in New Zealand children were shown.²¹ Within the large GABRIELA study (7,682 children) an overall protection of 'living on a farm' was confirmed.²² Both 'contact with cows' as a farm factor and 'drinking farm milk' were independent factors of protection, suggesting that there are different pathways of protection, the mucosal airways and the gut respectively. The risk reduction in terms of odd ratios for asthma, atopic sensitization and hay fever of farm children after consumption of cow's milk were respectively 0.68, 0.54 and 0.43. For atopic asthmatic children the 'consumption of cow's milk' remained the only significant protective factor. For hay fever the 'contact with cows' and the 'cow's milk consumption' had a significant influence. Finally, atopic sensitization was independently affected by the 'contact with straw' and 'cow's milk consumption.' Overall, the 'contact with straw' was a strong protective factor except for atopic dermatitis. The authors suggest that either arabinogalactan, a plant-derived oligosaccharide present in grass, hay and straw, or the bacteria and fungi in straw might be a protective agent. In the comparison of stool samples of allergic and non-allergic children, differences were found in strains of Lactococcis lactis (G121) and also Acinetobacter iwoffii (F78), a bacteria present in stable dirt.²³ Within the GABRIELA-study,²⁴ the authors looked at the diversity of environmental bacterial exposure and showed that there was an inverse relationship between the probability of asthma and the microbial diversity. Effects were independent of living on the farm. However, children living on farms had less asthma because of the exposure to a wider range of microorganisms than non-farm children.

The strongest implication of raw milk as a protective agent came recently from¹⁰ in the GABRIELA-study within the group of farm children. They first confirmed that the so-called 'farm milk' mentioned in earlier studies is drunk by the majority of farm milk consumers (89.3%) as untreated, and un-boiled farm milk. Many had been exposed to un-boiled farm milk during pregnancy, during the first year of life, or both. Compared with the reference group of farm children exclusively drinking shop milk which is heat-treated, the adjusted odd ratio for children who were exclusively taking raw milk was respectively 0.59, 0.74 and 0.51 for asthma, atopic sensitization and hay fever, whereas the consumption of heated farm milk did not lead to any significant difference compared to processed shop milk. In this study the risk reduction was stronger for asthma compared to atopy.

An early epidemiological study on the health status of farm children was done by Price.²⁵ He used the level of teeth decay plus physical structure of the jaws and cheekbones as a measure for a healthy youth development. He compared farm children in the isolated Swiss Lötschen valley with farm children in other valleys who came into contact with modernised, refined foods. In the Lötschen valley, only salt was imported; for the rest of their food, the villagers had a self-sufficient life style. Although the study might seem anecdotal, the insights into the health situation from the observational studies on a range of close-tonature people could act as a standard for a 'normal' health situation of children and adults before the effects of the Western lifestyle brought forth all kinds of health problems like asthma, allergies or being overweight. The nutrition of the children consisted mainly of raw milk from goats and cows, sourdough rye bread and raw milk cheese. Meat was consumed once a week and vegetables were rare. Price found hardly any tooth decay among the valley children on the traditional diets (4.6% of all teeth), whereas modernised diets showed much higher frequencies (29.8%). It is plausible that the way of living and health situation of the Swiss farm children is very comparable to traditional Amish children living in Pennsylvania (US). Here,²⁶ very low incidences of asthma and allergies in these farm children were found. Price²⁵ did not describe the way farmers were milking and what level of hygiene was present. In those days, wooden buckets and wooden milk transporting systems were used. We can therefore assume that the presence of fermenting bacteria, like lactococcus, was high. In those days, even 'fresh raw milk' described milk with a high microbial content. Even nowadays it could be shown¹⁰ that the farm children exhibiting high protection against asthma consumed raw farm milk with a higher bacterial load of micrococci, staphylococci and lactobacilli.

Earlier, in the 19th century, it was observed²⁷ that 'summer catarrh' (allergic hay fever) was only present in the middle and upper classes of society. After making an inquiry at the various London pharmacies and elsewhere, he did not find a single case of hay fever amongst the poor. This observation is confirmed by recent data; within the ISAAC study based on information from 20 countries, a highly positive association is present between the country's gross national income as a measure for wealth and the incidence of childhood eczema.²⁸

For farm children and the offspring of pregnant farm mothers, the protection is strongest if both consumed raw milk and if the pregnant mother had a daily work routine in the stable.¹⁶ Therefore, it was postulated²⁹ that the lifestyle on a farm, the way of living of the pregnant mother with her animals, consuming raw milk products, as well as the care of the newborn, who is in near contact with animals and the bacterial environment at the farm, is a beneficial predisposition to develop a healthy functioning immune system. Roughly, the prenatal phase until the early life exposures within the first year of life are the most important periods of a newborn for the training of the immune system. The sensitization of the newborn already starts before birth. The number of animal species present on the farm determined the priming of the immune response of the child.³⁰ The mother's contact with animals during pregnancy had greater impact than newborn's contact during the first year of life.³¹

Based on the GABRIELA study, it was stated²² that the hygiene hypothesis might not hold for atopic dermatitis as much as for respiratory allergic diseases. Results from the PARSIFAL and later the GABRIELA studies both showed the protective element within the farm environment. The diversity of the microbial environment protected for asthma, not atopy. Microbes trigger the innate immune system, and due to the wider diversity of microorganisms on farms, farm children are better protected than non-farm children.²⁴ Lluis and Schaubs³² summarised the protective elements within the farm environment and stated that the novel studies strengthen the role of microbial exposure, farm milk and grass components, especially early in life. These exposures modulate the immune system, subsequently leading to a long-lasting lower risk of developing atopic diseases.

Apart from milk heating several other lifestyle and nutrition factors are mentioned in relation to protection for asthma and allergies. In the birth cohort study PASTURE, the early introduction of six complementary food items in relation to atopic dermatitis were investigated.³³ Feeding practices in the first year of life affect the risk for atopic dermatitis and each additional introduction of a main food item reduced the risk by 25%. The introduction of yoghurt showed a strong protective effect independently of the overall diversity of introduced foods. There was a risk reduction of 60% (adjusted odd ratio (aOR) 0.41; 95% confidence interval (CI): 0.23-0.73). The authors suggest the protective possibility of probiotic-like bacteria within voghurt, producing short chain fatty acids (SCFA). SCFA can affect the immune and inflammation response. Supplementation of probiotic cultures in the first two years of life reduced the cumulative prevalence of eczema at 4 years hazard ratio (HR: 0.57; 95% CI: 0.39-0.83) and prevalence of rhinoconjunctivitis at 4 years (HR: 0.38; 95% CI: 0.18-0.83) if children were taking strain HN001, not HN019.34

Although there is strong, repeatedly found evidence that the early intake in life of raw milk is an important factor for protection against asthma and atopy later in life,^{9,10} it is, however, a different question if raw milk can also cure children dealing with adverse reactions to milk. In the literature,^{35,36} parents claim that raw milk can be consumed by children with milk intolerance. In a (double blind placebo controlled trial (DBRCT), raw milk, pasteurized milk and pasteurized and homogenized milk was tested in people who reported intolerance to milk, and could not document any differences in the symptomatic responses.³⁷ Tendencies were found for less experienced pain and less bloating after consumption of raw milk. Five milk allergic children were tested³⁵ with both the prick test and an oral double blind placebo controlled milk provocation. As a control, a hypoallergenic formula without any milk components was used. All children showed an allergic reaction when receiving any cow's milk in contrast with the placebo. No reaction was seen when challenged with placebo. There was a tendency toward a shorter reaction time to the skin prick test after being challenged by the raw milk compared to pasteurized and homogenized/pasteurized milk (240 versus 162 and 192 minutes respectively) as well as a lower acceptable amount of milk intake (41 versus 23 and 27 ml respectively), indicating a milder reaction to the raw milk. Cow's milk allergy is usually confined to early childhood, often appearing in the first month of life and disappearing at an age of 2 to 3 years.³⁶ Based on our own experimental testing of allergic children within a double blind placebo controlled trial, a repeated observation is that children could consume increasing amounts of a selected raw milk from a biodynamic farm, whereas the shop milk, being conventional, pasteurised and homogenised led to a quick allergic response,³⁸ (results will be published elsewhere). Differences between the studies might be because of differences in raw milk origin.

3. MILK FATS AND PROTECTION AGAINST ASTHMA AND ALLERGIES

The milk's fatty acid composition is not affected by pasteurisation. All farm studies mentioned were carried out at mainly conventional European dairy farms with milk from cows also fed silage, maize and concentrates. This milk does not have a FA profile, which might be beneficial for several health aspects, and therefore the mechanism of protection from raw milk is different from that of pasteurised whole milk or the fatty acid composition.^{39,40} It was shown⁴¹ that consumption of whole milk rather than skimmed milk was associated with decreased prevalence of hay fever and asthma. Within the PIAMA-study, consumption of full-fat milk, as well as butter, reduced the incidence of asthma in pre-school children.⁴² Within the PARSIFAL-study, an independent reduction of asthma was based on butter compared to margarine consumption.¹⁷ In the prospective KOALA-birth cohort study, children of mothers with a high intake of organic milk (> 90% of total milk product intake) had less eczema (at two years of age) and allergic sensitization (at one year of age).⁴³ Within the KOALA-study, the independent protective effects from the sum of very long chain n-3-polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) (fish fatty acids: EPA, DPA and DHA) as well as ruminant related PUFA (CLAc9t11 and its precursor C18:1*t*11) were distinguished.⁴⁰ In the German LISA

study, the so-called fish FA were investigated,⁴⁴ and it could be shown that a high intake of margarine and vegetable oils during the last 4 weeks of pregnancy was positively associated, whereas a high maternal fish intake was inversely associated, with eczema in the offspring's first two years. The quality of the FA in the mother's diet is immediately reflected in the breast milk.⁴⁵ FA from industrial origin and hydrogenised plant oils are high in C18:1t9 (elaidic acid), whereas diets based on milk products from organic and biodynamic origin are high in C18:1t11 (vaccenic acid) and showed a low ratio between the two isomers. Bertschi et al.⁴⁶ showed that a dietary supplementation with conjugated linoleic acid (CLA)-rich alpine butter changed human breast milk FA and increased CLAc9t11, whereas similar results were found for Dutch organic milk intake.47 In mouse models, diets rich in CLA significantly reduced IgE production and bronchial hyperresponsiveness.⁴⁸ The impact of season, region and feeding on a range of FA-markers was evaluated.⁷ Since milk is a complex food containing over 200 single FA, it makes sense to judge a milk profile rather than the single FA. The authors showed that season, altitude and grazing intensity are the main factors affecting a milk fat profile. Due to legislation and voluntary restriction of concentrate input in the cow's diet, grass based organic systems during the summer season showed the highest potential to produce such a FA profile, especially in Alpine regions, but also in lowland regions if day and night grazing provides the main fodder for the cows.49

Price²⁵ described the food habits of people with traditional nature-based diets. An interesting finding was that among all traditional people a "sacred food" was present, mainly consumed in relation to fertility and pregnancy. One of the main implicit necessities of food choice and nutrition was "to bring forward a healthy next generation" without the help of doctors and the presence of hospitals. Also, the farmers in the Swiss Lötschen valley had a special food in relation to the fertility support, pregnancy and development of the young children. This was the (raw milk) butter, made in June and July "when the cows were grazing near the glaciers."25 Nowadays, the milk fat from grazed mountainous pasture is well known for its high levels of n-3 FA, CLA and vitamins.⁴⁹⁻⁵¹ The parallelism between the food habits of all traditional people described²⁵ is the consumption of raw and raw fermented foods as main elements in their diets. There were no refined sugars or canned foods and the fat quality showed high levels of anti-oxidants, n-3 and n-6 PUFA.

A model to explain the differences between different FA-profiles in relation to health is based on the lipid-hypothesis.⁵² The change in the Western diet from n-3 towards a surplus of n-6 as well as increased levels of industrial trans FA originates from increased amounts of meat consumed from monogastric animals fed with concentrates and the use of hydrolysed plant oils from palm

and soy used in cooking. This led to a change in ratio of the FA-profile in Western diets, where markers as n-6/n-3 went from 1-2:1 towards 10-25:1 (COLOMBUS-study) and also C18:1t9/C18:1t10 increased.⁶ There is a change from grass-based animals feeding only on roughages of grass products to high yielding cows kept indoors and fed a total mixed ratio of conserved products, like maize silage, grass silage and concentrates. Due to the changes in cows' diets, a change in the overall milk FA profile is found. There is a reduction of branched chain FA, several CLA, like CLAc9t11 and CLAt11c13 and its precursor C18:1t11 and an increase of trans-fatty acids as C18:1t10 and C18:1t9.6 Especially in summer, the differences in milk fat profile are strictly separable.⁷ Phytanic acid as a chlorophyll derivate is part of the branched chain fatty acids (BCFA) and as a marker for the green roughage in the cow's diet. An inverse correlation between the phytanic acid concentration in milk fat and the percentage of maize silage plus concentrate in the cow's diet was found.⁵³

4. CHANGES OF MILK AFTER HEAT TREATMENT

Pasteurisation of milk can be in different combinations of temperature and time span. The goal of heating milk is to kill unwanted bacteria, which could lead to disease or death.

After Holder pasteurisation (62, 5 °C for 30 minutes) 93% of the human donor breast samples did not show any growth on routine bacterial cultures.⁵⁴ Before pasteurisation, some milk samples were contaminated with pathogenic organisms. In a large Swiss study, it was shown that the average number of bacteria in raw cow milk was 20, 180 bacteria ml⁻¹ (average over 12 monthly samplings). After pasteurisation at 72 °C (15 sec) and 92 °C (20 sec) this was reduced to 1,381 and 4 bacteria ml⁻¹ respectively, whereas ultra-high-temperature (UHT) treatment led to bacteriologically sterile milk samples.⁵⁵

4.1. Effects of Heat Treatment on Milk Contents

Although the FA composition of milk is not changed after pasteurisation,^{56,57} the enzyme activity is completely (lipase) or partly destroyed (amylase).⁵⁷ In mother's milk, the Holder pasteurization was compared with the high pasteurization (75 °C for 15 seconds). The anti-oxidant properties of heated milk were reduced and there was a considerable loss of the activity of gluthatione peroxidase, which is one of the major anti-oxidants. Losses were higher at higher heating temperatures.⁵⁸ The available lysine in milk, which is seen as a parameter for the protein quality in human milk, was also lost after pasteurisation; however, losses were now higher at lower temperatures.⁵⁹ In a review paper on the effect of pasteurisation of human milk, Holder pasteurisation completely

inactivates all cellular components of milk, including T-cells, B-cells, macrophages, and neutrophils.⁶⁰ Holder pasteurisation did not affect the concentrations of vitamins A, D, E, B2 and B12. In contrast, there were significant losses of vitamins B6 (15%), C (36%), and folic acid (31%).⁶¹ Relative to freshly expressed human milk, the concentrations of lysozyme, lactoferrin, lactoperoxidase and secretory immunoglobulin A were reduced 50% to 82% in pasteurised donor milk and the activities of lysozyme and lactoperoxidase were 74% to 88% lower.^{62, 63} The major milk protein lactoferrin (LF) can destroy microbes and reduce inflammatory responses.⁶⁴ Therefore, the proliferation of bacterial pathogens in pasteurised donor milk was enhanced 1.8- to 4.6-fold compared to fresh or frozen human milk.⁶² The loss of immunological components were investigated,65 and the growth of Escherichia coli (E. coli) and Staphylococcus aureus (S. aureus) in fresh raw and pasteurised human milk was experimentally tested. The bacterial growth inhibition was significantly reduced after pasteurisation, showing negative effects on the antibacterial properties of raw human milk. Raw milk, Holder-pasteurized milk, and highpasteurized milk yielded a reduction in E. coli growth of 70%, 52%, and 36%, respectively.⁶⁶ The reduction of bactericidal properties of fresh raw cow milk was calculated and the lag-phase of E. coli at 38 °C was reduced from 160 minutes in raw milk to 40 minutes in all heat treatments (pasteurised as well as UHT milk).55 The antimicrobial capacity of normal raw human milk with filtered raw milk being sterile from any bacteria and with a removal of macrophages and neutrophils was compared⁶⁷ and after inoculation with E. coli and S. aureus, raw milk showed a reduced growth of these harmful bacteria. Since no differences were found between the filtered and unfiltered raw milk, the focus should be on the importance of the noncellular constituents of raw milk.

4.2. Changes in Allergenicity Due to Heating of Milk

Cow's milk allergy affects about 2-3% of children.⁶⁸ In farm children differences in levels of asthma, atopy and hay fever were correlated with changes in whey proteins due to heating of the milk consumed.¹⁰ Allergenicity of food depends on the predisposition of the patient and on the food itself, including its processing. Beta-lactoglobulin (LG) as one of the main whey proteins is considered to be the principle milk allergen, because of its absence in human milk. Heat treatment changes the native tertiary structure of the protein and will result in the formation of aggregates between casein micelles and whey proteins via the formation of disulfide bonds between kappa- and/or alpha-s2-casein and whey proteins.⁶⁹ Heat sensitive proteins undergo denaturation due to the unfolding of their compact globular conformations and aggregation. The concentration of residual native protein depends on a time

versus temperature curve and the sensitivity to heat damage is different for each protein. The order of increasing thermal stability of the proteins taking into account irreversible changes was alkaline phosphatase < lactoferrin (LF) < immuloglobulin-G < bovine serum albumin < lactoglobulin (LG) < lactoalbumin (LA).⁷⁰ Whey proteins, such as LG, LA and LF that account for 20% of the total milk proteins, are mostly globular proteins and several IgE-binding epitopes have been identified on these proteins in the past. However, caseins, which represent about 80% of the milk proteins, have also been shown to be major allergens. Antibody production was used to measure immunomodulation of whey proteins after heat treatment. Although native LG is strongly resistant to stomach digestion, a sharp LG immunoreactivity was measured when milk was heated over 70-80 °C, converting native LG into denaturated LG with an aggregated structure.⁷¹ Due to the thermolability of LG, values were already high in fresh cheese pasteurised at 66 °C and even higher after sterilisation at higher temperatures, whereas no LG was found in fresh cheese made from raw, non-heated milk.⁷² Similar results were found in cow's milk allergic children consuming fully matured Parmesan cheese, where high temperature treatment was lacking (maximum temperature at processing 55 °C). 58% of the cow's milk allergic people could tolerate an oral provocation with 36-monthold Parmesan cheese.⁷³ Mature Parmesan (> 20 month of ripening) had a high level of casein-degradation, especially for alphaS1-casein, and therefore the immunological in-vitro IgE reaction on caseins decreased. The whey proteins were not degraded during the ripening process and were still present in the mature cheese.

In infants the extent of the protein digestion is affected by factors such as the maturity of the gut and its healthy functioning. Furthermore cows' milk whey peptides need to have a molecular weight greater than 3,000 Da (around 25 residues) in order to stimulate an immune response and an allergen must contain at least two IgE epitopes, each of which a minimum of 15 amino acid residues long, in order to make the antibody binding possible. Fragments combining multiple epitopes at least 1 nm in size are required to elicit histamine release.⁷⁴ Song et al.⁷¹ could define the immunoreactive site of the newly built epitopes after thermal denaturation of LG and showed that in parallel the binding capacity for retinol, palmitic acid and Vit D3 was reduced after heating above 70 °C.71,75 Therefore the transport as well as the uptake function of LG after denaturation might be destroyed. Based on infant in-vitro digestion models, it was suggested that IgE-mediated allergy would be connected to an incomplete digestion of dietary proteins causing an inappropriate immune response in the gut and connected with the resistant fragments of beta-caseins found, which corresponded with detected epitopes.⁷⁴ In in-vitro digestion models, it was observed that raw milk was digested significantly faster with human proteolytic enzymes than the pasteurized and high-heated milk.⁷⁶ Milk processing led to differences in peptide patterns and heat treatment of milk tended to increase the number of peptides found in digested samples.⁶⁹ Antigens such as aggregated LA and LG, induced after pasteurization, could not be taken up by intestinal epithelial cells, but instead were directed to the mast cells of Peyer's Patches.⁷⁷

During anaphylaxis, there is an acute oxidative stress in the respiratory tract. In mice models, sensitization followed by the crossing of the epithelial barrier of protein aggregates and the anaphylactic reaction has been tested. Subcutaneous reactions and oral provocation of sensitized mice gave different reactions to untreated raw milk and homogenized milk. When given orally, no antibody production was found compared to subcutaneous reaction (respectively 8 and 71% of the animals).78 After immunisation of mice with different milk types: raw, skimmed, pasteurized and pasteurized plus homogenized, the antibody production of all specificities within the group immunized with pasteurized/homogenized milk was higher than the group immunized with raw or skimmed milk.⁷⁹ After immunisation of rats with pure LG, native or heatdenaturated, native LG caused a more intense immune reaction in terms of IgE production compared to denaturated LG, but heat-denaturated LG caused a greater increase in mucosa inflammatory cells in the gastrointestinal tract, resembling a delayed type hypersensitivity reaction instead of a Type I allergic reaction as measured by total IgE levels.⁸⁰ The immunity response in sensitised mice depends on the heating temperature. Sterilised milk proteins loose their allergenicity compared to raw milk and pasteurised milk.81

Neerven et al.⁸² discussed the question, which underlying elements of raw cow's milk consumption contribute to the protection against allergies. They argued that a chain of heat-induced changes leads to an unbalanced immune response. Denaturation changes the functionality of several milk proteins, the microbiota-composition is changed and therefore the gut barrier functions are changed. Serum from food allergic people was used⁸³ to determine the antigen-production *in-vitro* in reaction on raw/crude- versus processed/cooked food ingredients. Additionally to the immediate IgE reaction, measurements were made for a delayed immune reaction based on IgA, IgM and IgG antibody production against modified food antigens. Allergy sensitive people showed severe immune reactions on the cooked food via non IgE production.

5. STUDIES ON HEALTH, GROWTH AND REPRODUCTION

5.1. Animal Studies

Several animal studies have been done with raw and heattreated milk. In the studies, attention was paid to the generation intervals and the reproductive effects. In studies, where milk was the main food of the animals without any compensational effects of vitamins, there are negative effects found associated with heating the milk. In rats, the five-week development of pups was compared, starting at two weeks of age.84 The diet consisted of bread and milk from different treatments: raw, sterilised at 96 °C and sterilised full cream milk. The last diet was associated with the highest weight gain, whereas the slope of weight gain was better in the raw milk group compared to the sterilised milk group. In all groups, all furs were fine and all females became pregnant at the end of the trial. Although no differences were found in growth between raw and heated milk, the reproduction of the pasteurized milk group was reduced to 51% compared to the raw milk group.⁸⁵ Animals receiving sterilized milk could not produce any offspring after the 3rd generation, whereas raw milk animals could reproduce even after seven generations. In a critique,⁸⁶ it was mentioned that the heated milk could not be compared with a normal pasteurized milk, because the milk was sterilized twice for 30 minutes each time. In a follow-up study only some of these findings could be repeated.⁸⁷ Growth of rats on sterilized milk was about 10% less after one year. The reproduction in terms of number of pregnant females plus number of born pups was higher after raw milk, although in both groups, none of the pups survived after the fourth day of life. In guinea pigs, full recovery of scurvy was found in the group consuming heat-treated, dried milk powder after changing to raw milk.⁸⁸ In a comparison of three generations, cats were fed with a diet of milk, meat and cod liver oil. One group received raw milk, another pasteurised milk and the third one condensed milk. It was reported that cats on a raw milk diet showed normal growth and reproduction as well as a normal bone structure, whereas cats with a diet of pasteurized milk could not successfully reproduce, the animals showed an aggressive behaviour and their bone structure was changed.⁸⁹ In a trial with 9 consecutive generations of rats, diets were composed based on freeze-dried milk powder from different origins, but all from the same batch of milk: raw, low pasteurisation (72 °C, 15 sec), high pasteurisation (92 °C, 20 sec) and UHT milk.90 Milk was the main part of the diet (66%) and all diets were balanced with a vitamin-mixture. In the average values for protein and fat in the diets, no differences were present. There were several highly significant differences between raw and pasteurised milk in growth, fertility, litter yield and internal organs. The animal weight was always higher after raw milk, values up to 10% difference were found. The fertility over 9 generations was very high in all treatments. Especially in the later generations (8th and 9th), there were more pups born and more of them survived by the end of the suckling phase after raw milk intake. From the 4th generation onwards, the total weight of all pups born was highest after raw milk. The internal organs were also different. Spleen and adrenals were systematically heavier in raw milk fed animals, although not in relative relation to their total (heavier) body weight. In the blood serum of males from the 6th generation, significant differences were found for chloride, urea, glutamate pyruvate transaminase (GPT) and triglycerides, which were all lower after raw milk.

In guinea pigs fed with heated skim milk, animals developed so-called wrist and muscular stiffness (known as the Wulzen syndrome) in contrast to those fed raw milk.⁹¹ Calcium depletion had taken place in the wrong places, causing calcification of soft tissues but also an increase in blood pressure due to calcification of the arteries. However, stiffness could be cured with raw cream among others. Chemical analysis showed that heat labile sterols (stigmasterol) were responsible for this deficiency. Also, fresh green feed (e.g., kale) could prevent stiffness. Stigmasterol interacts with hormone functioning (progesteron) and is a precursor in the building of Vitamin D3.⁹² The mechanism of the 'anti-stiffness-factor' is through fatsoluble vitamins regulating the calcium and phosphorus metabolism.⁹³

The interesting element of the rat study⁹⁰ is the long run over 9 generations and the compensation of the feeding ratio with vitamins, etc. The rats received a balanced diet especially in terms of important vitamins. Nevertheless, differences still remain due to the heating of the milk. In earlier studies, like for instance the cat study⁸⁹ or earlier animal studies in guinea pigs,⁹¹ no balanced or compensational feeding ratio was offered, and the heat-treated diets were deficient in some essential nutrients. Such studies offer another view on milk heating and are important to show some baseline changes through diets. Modern human diets are much more in balance and we are eating other things than only milk and milk products. Therefore, the effects of heating on health in modern diets may not become visible immediately.

5.2. Human Studies

Following the heating of mother's milk, there is a loss of the protective effect of the milk. The clinical impact of loss of immunomodular properties through milk heating was shown in a randomised trial where endangered human neonates showed higher infection rates after pasteurisation of human milk.94 Pasteurisation of mother's milk in preterm infants resulted in reduced fat absorption and reduced bone growth⁹⁵ or a lower gain.⁹⁶ Lower weight gain was also measured in preterm children fed pasteurised pooled human milk as well as lower serum alkaline phosphatase, but higher phosphorus blood values. Serum calcium and 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25-OHD) concentrations were similar in the two groups.⁹⁷ Fat absorption was reduced, probably due to the inactivation of milk lipase after heating and the still inadequate production of the child's own lipase.98

Apart from the allergenic effect in relation to milk heating and further milk processing, there are also differences found in growth rates of children as part of a nutritional evaluation of milk, processed and unprocessed.⁹⁹ Results based on these early trials should not be taken as being too significant. The trials were not randomized and could be biased to the selection of, for instance, schoolteachers.⁸⁶ In the statistical recalculation of the trials among school children in the 1920s,99 it was shown that the increase in length and weight was smaller after consumption of pasteurized milk compared to raw milk.¹⁰⁰ Effects were stronger among the boys than for the girls. Reduction of weight increase due to the consumption of pasteurized milk was 66.0 and 91.1% respectively, whereas reduction of length increase was even more striking (49.8 and 70.1% respectively). Therefore, the authors conclude that consumption of pasteurized milk had only half the value of raw milk in the case of the boys and 70% in the case of the girls. Raw milk appeared to have a greater effect, raising the possibility that at least part of the 'milk effect' could be caused by substances other than fat, protein or sugar (which do not differ between the two milk types).¹⁰¹ A larger weight gain was found in babies on raw milk without additional supplementation of cod liver oil and orange juice than babies on pasteurised milk alone or pasteurised milk supplemented with cod liver oil and orange juice.¹⁰² Calcium from raw milk is better available and the retention of Calcium was more efficient in children and adults after drinking of raw milk compared to pasteurised or dried milk.¹⁰³

6. RAW MILK RISKS

There are several risks associated with the consumption of raw milk. First, there is the risk of the transfer of antibiotic resistant (ABR) genes through all kinds of innocent microbes in raw milk. Secondly, and already well described and warned about, is the risk of contamination by pathogenic bacteria.

6.1. Raw Milk and the Distribution of AB Resistance Genes

A rapid increase in multi-drug resistant pathogens has occurred in the last decades and some of them (f.i., *S. aureus, Enterococci*) are showing resistance against most known antimicrobial agents. This implies a serious risk to public health¹⁰⁴ and leads to increased problems for bacterial infected humans in hospitals. The driving factor behind the emerging drug resistance is the extensive use of antibiotics in animal husbandry as growth promoters in pigs, poultry and veal. The problem is that any use of antibiotics leads to a higher risk of resistance selection among pathogens. In practice, a sub-therapeutic level of antibiotics administered may especially select for further resistance.¹⁰⁵ Measurements in the stool of infants showed the presence of ABR genes and, already in infants younger than two weeks, high numbers of such genes were detected.¹⁰⁴

Raw milk is not the only vehicle for antibiotic resistant bacteria. Fermented raw foods can often harbour high concentrations of resistant Enterococci.¹⁰⁶ In socalled 'ready-to-eat' products like raw milk cheese and quark, genes resistant to antibiotics can be increased in number and transferred. Killing of bacteria though pasteurisation reduced the prevalence of ABR genes. Raw milk cheeses had a higher prevalence than pasteurised cheeses (75% versus 37%).¹⁰⁷ Similar results were found for 'ervthromycin'-resistance (raw vs. pasteurised 55% versus 23%), although the overall levels of contamination were lower than for tetracyclin. Also, in starter cultures used for fermented milk products or in probiotic cultures, antibiotic resistance has been detected.¹⁰⁷ The genus Enterococcus, as a typical part of the intestinal flora, has an exceptional ability to acquire and transmit ABR genes and is considered to be a major player in the dissemination of ABR genes worldwide.¹⁰⁶ Gene transfer can take place vertically, within the bacterial species, but also horizontally, between different bacterial species, like S. aureus, Lactococcus spec. and Listeria spec.¹⁰⁸ Horizontal gene transfer of ABR determinants, mainly via mobile genetic elements such as plasmids and transposons, contributes to a large extent to the increasing prevalence of bacteria resistant to a single or to multiple antibiotics.¹⁰⁴ Typical bacterial species that cause mastitis in dairy cows have few, if any, mechanisms for transfer of antibiotic resistance to other bacteria, as occurs with intestinal bacteria.¹⁰⁵ Horizontal ABR gene transfer from Enterococcus faecalis to Listeria monocytogenes and to commensal bacteria can occur in the presence of competing faecal microbiota in a colonic fermentation.104

After testing 12 main antibiotics available for udder pathogens, no differences could be found in resistance frequency between organic and conventional Swiss cows, although there should be a strong restriction in the use of antibiotics at organic farms. There was a tendency for organic cows to show higher susceptibility for drug resistance than cows from integrated production systems, especially in isolates from Streptococcus uberis.¹⁰⁵ In Swiss cheeses, resistance from Enterococci to tetracyline were as high in organic as in conventional samples (60-61%).¹⁰⁷ No differences were found in penicillin resistance between organic and conventional cows.¹⁰⁹ Also a larger proportion of isolates within Staphylococcus were mentioned¹¹⁰ from organic rather than conventional farms that were susceptible to erythromycin, pirlimycin and tetracycline. In contrast, in a review article, evaluating 17 different studies, a lower prevalence of antibiotic resistance on organic farms was found,¹¹¹ although only in U.S. studies, not in European studies. One of the suggestions for this difference might be the geographic differences in the use of antimicrobial drugs, which is not allowed at US organic farms.

6.2. Raw Milk, Safety and Zoonotic Bacteria

With raw milk consumption a list of potential zoonotic dangers exist. The most commonly reported risks in connection with raw milk are Listeria, Salmonella, Campylobacter and EHEC/STEC. Outbreaks between 1990 and 2006 due to milk consumption in the U.S. according to the official CDC (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention) data were evaluated.¹¹² The majority of outbreaks attributed to the consumption of unpasteurized milk were caused by Campylobacter and occurred in private homes and resulted in relatively few illnesses. Although listeriosis is a serious foodborne illness, there are no raw milk outbreaks attributed to *Listeria monocytogenes* in the numerous listing in the US.

Here we will especially discuss the virulent sub-strains of E. coli. Enterohemorraghic Escherichia coli (EHEC) includes a phenotypically diverse population of Shiga toxin producing E. coli that causes foodborne and waterborne diseases.¹¹³ EHEC is a subgroup of STEC or VTEC: Shiga toxin encoding E. coli or Verotoxin building E. coli bacteria. To become virulent, different genetic characteristics must be present in the infecting strain, one of them being the production of Shiga toxin (coding for Stx1 or Stx2 with variants), it is also necessary that bacteria attach to the intestine cells of the host (encoding for intimin eae)^{114,115} and enter these cells. EHEC is one of the most problematic zoonotic diseases, because of its low infective dose. The incubation of the EHEC in humans is between 2-5 days. Sero-groups O26, O103, O111, O145 and O157 belong to the major EHEC strains.¹¹⁶ The recent outbreak in the Hamburg area (Niedersachsen State, Germany) in June 2011 showed how risky new strains of EHEC are. Fifty-three people died and over 4,300 people had diarrhoea. In this outbreak it had nothing to do with raw milk, but with uncooked vegetables and sprouts for salads. New high-risk pathovars with other aggregation mechanisms¹¹⁵ can develop rapidly (in this case, STEC O104:H4), and it seemed that human beings, rather than animals, were the reservoirs of this new, antibiotic-resistant strain that acquired the Stx2-gene. Outbreaks of E. coli O157 vary dramatically in the severity of illness and the frequency of the most serious complication, haemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS).¹¹³ Looking at the disease pattern in humans, there is a difference in virulence among different outbreaks. Sometimes large numbers of people only experience abdominal pain and diarrhoea while in other outbreaks only a limited number of people are involved, but with severe complaints like bloody diarrhoea, kidney failure, hospitalisation and even death. Although proven raw milk cases are present, raw milk dangers seem to be less in comparison to infectious dangers from human to human contact, animal contact, dirty toilets, undercooked ground beef and unhygienic environments (such as sandboxes for children). A cross-contamination through toilets from bearers is a possible vector for the spread of EHEC.

REVIEW

Currently, we have been dealing in most cases with O157 strains in relation to raw milk outbreaks, although most of the clinical isolates from people with reported illnesses in Europe belong to the non-O157 groups.^{116, 117} Reported illnesses in children are mainly associated with the O157 group.¹¹⁸ E. coli O157:H7 does not cause illness in cattle, but colonization in bovines and sheep are the major nonhuman reservoirs for this organism.¹¹⁹ Risk factors were age specific. In children under 3 years of age, having touched a ruminant had the highest odds of disease, and raw milk was the only food identified as a risk factor. The prevalence of STEC or EHEC positive raw milk samples is different between countries. In 2010 17,6 and 2,3% of German raw milk and raw milk cheese were STEC positive respectively.¹²⁰ In French raw milk samples, 21.0% and 5.7% were positive for STEC and EHEC respectively, whereas Swiss data showed only 2.5% STEC positive samples. Not only are the prevalences different in different countries, the predominant virulent subtypes of E. coli differ. Dangers are not only present in fresh milk; STEC can still survive in fresh cheeses up to two months of age.¹²¹ This was also found for lactic cheeses.¹²² Even if the bacteria are killed, some toxins produced by the bacteria still might be active in milk.

Due to genomic research, it is now possible for further specification of STEC O157, showing genomic variations in Shiga toxin production, Stx1 and Stx2 being the main variants. Different virulence of the Stx-gene alleles (f.i., Stx1, Stx2, Stx2c) and their combination might be the reason for this.^{113,123} In The Netherlands, it was suggested that only a fraction of STEC O157 strains in the bovine reservoir are associated with causing disease in humans.¹²³ The human isolates showed a larger variation in Stx-genotypes than the bovine samples. All human isolates were characterised by the presence of the *tir* gene, responsible for the adherence of the bacteria in the intestine. In southern Sweden mainly one type of STEC O157 (presence of Stx2 and Stx2c) was involved that was highly pathogenic in human.¹²⁴ This strain was correlated with two larger foodborne outbreaks. Further genetic differentiation, based on genotyping of STEC O157 strains, is necessary. The presence of the Stx2, eae, and katP genes, together with a combination of several Stx2 variants, was clearly associated with human-virulent strains. In contrast, dairy food STEC strains were characterized by a predominance of Stx1, with a minority of isolates harbouring eae, espP, and/or katP.¹²⁵ The current molecular assays used in public health laboratories might be adequate for identification of STEC O157:H7. However, these laboratories lack the further discriminating power needed to resolve its genetically homogenous population structure. So, before dairy food is made suspect for STEC O157 a further determination of all genetic aspects is necessary (which pathogenic Stx strain and whether additional adhesion and colonisation features (eae) present?).¹²⁶

Transmission routes of *E. coli* vary depending on hygiene measures on the farm in the production chain and killing through heating. Studies are inconsistent, however, the types of feed and feeding patterns affect the prevalence of STEC O157:H7 in cows. High levels of concentrate rather than a diet of roughage in beef animals showed increased numbers of the bacteria.¹²⁷ The same was found for dried distiller grains.¹²⁸ Even in newborn calves STEC can be found within the first 24 hours of their life and, in the phase of young stock, bacteria are spread through the herd.¹²⁹ Infected calves kept on pasture were less exposed or even had cleaned themselves compared to calves kept indoors.¹³⁰ Calves fed milk replacers showed lower incidences of colonization than those fed with colostrum and real milk.

Shedding from cows shows a complex dynamic. Socalled super-shedders can be responsible for increased transmission and persistent colonization rates in the herd.^{131,132} There are seasonal shedding patterns. In a review, consistent seasonal patterns across regional boundaries were shown. Higher temperatures during summer could increase the growth rate of the bacteria. For the Nordic hemisphere, STEC findings had a summer peak from July to September. Mechanisms behind this pattern could be the population occurrence of the bacteria as well as the behaviour of the infected human beings who are outside more and have more contact with animals during summer or eating faeces-contaminated food (salad).¹³³ Besides the primary infection, there is also a risk of secondary and tertiary transmission from person-to-person,¹³⁴ because of the very high concentration of the virulent bacteria in the stools of infected persons.

Risk reduction of STEC concentration in raw milk and its products can be achieved by aggressive hygienic practices and periodic monitoring of the milk. The on-farm management and hygiene measures that reduce the number of environmental bacteria were investigated¹³⁵ and five management practices were mentioned to reduce the bacterial pressure: Dry and clean bedding, stable rearing groups, regular emptying and cleaning of water troughs, avoiding contact between different animal herds and maintaining a closed herd policy. Persistent STEC shedders should be identified and removed from the herd. Growth of STEC can be reduced if milk is sufficiently and quickly been cooled, after rapid acidification of the curd, or during long ripening of hard cheese or when during the cheese process, the curd has been heated at 54 °C during 30 minutes.¹³⁶ In the bacteriological evaluation of commercial cheeses, it was concluded that the application and maintenance of good hygiene practices throughout the food chain is the key to prevent contamination and bacterial growth.¹³⁷ This was confirmed in 41 commercial US raw milk cheeses after 60-day of ripening and where no zoonotic bacteria could be detected.¹³⁸ A periodic monitoring of coliform levels in raw milk could be a tool to control the hygiene

praxis on the farm. The outbreak described was preceded by three repeated milk samples with elevated levels of coliform bacteria (>50 cfu ml⁻¹). Slow rises of coliformvalues over time and single spikes should be taken as a signal to examine the hygiene during milking as well as the equipment cleaning technique.¹³⁴

The answer to EHEC contamination by official bodies is to increase hygienic practices (e.g., washing hands), the heating of food (milk included), the avoidance of eating salads, sprouts, etc., and avoidance of contact with farm and zoo animals. Also, water can be a source of infection as people and water can bear EHEC; therefore, risk sources are being re-evaluated. Additionally, alternative non-thermal processing treatments will be investigated (high pressure, pulsed-electric field, ionizing radiation, UV radiation, and ultrasound) to inactivate STEC with minimal alteration to sensory and nutrient characteristics. However, it has yet to be determined if and to what level the native character of food will be changed with these treatments.

7. DEALING WITH RISKS

The raw milk issue has been controversially and emotionally discussed, and microbiologists and health officials repeatedly warn of the danger of raw milk consumption. Researchers dealing with the epidemiology of raw milk research often insert a risk warning at the end of their scientific paper (see, e.g., the review paper of Ref. [9]). After his conclusion that farm children who drank raw rather than cooked milk were better protected from asthma and atopy, Loss et al.¹⁰ for instance, said: "however, on the basis of current knowledge, raw milk consumption cannot be recommended because it might contain pathogens. Once the mechanisms underlying the protective farm milk effect are better understood, ways of processing and preserving a safe and preventive milk can be developed." Coenen,¹³⁹ investigating the hygienic quality and presence of zoonotic bacteria in certified German raw milk (Vorzugsmilch) and showing the much better quality of this milk type, said: "A health risk after consumption of Vorzugsmilch is basically possible, because the presence of zoonotic germs in low doses as EHEC and Campylobacter jejuni never can be excluded." There is a tendency to look at technical rather than ecological solutions to control risks and to find the single key factor within the protection. In his presentation at the first raw milk symposium, Kneifel¹⁴⁰ said: "The challenge is to maintain the native status of the product and to get rid of its shady side. Therefore, we need high tech solutions."

Several issues seem to be relevant in the discussion 'health or hazard': Freedom of food and nutrition choice¹⁴¹ against general protection of the population; finding acceptable ways to reduce the risks in the production chain rather than a plea for (non-existing) zero-risks and a well-balanced discussion about the pros and cons of raw milk consumption. This means finding ways to differentiate milk qualities in terms of hygienic attention at milking and processing rather than speaking generally about the dangers of any raw milk (a milk vs. the milk). Additionally, Vuitton¹⁴² remarks that "we all strive to zero-risk, however an immediate fight to zero risk may mean immediate threat to sustainable agriculture and the emergence of other types of more insidious risks both for health and for the environment." In the discussion about the risks of raw, expressed breast milk fed to preterm infants, raw milk is clearly preferred above pasteurised mother's milk. One hundred percent safe raw human milk does not exist, but clear correlations fail between bacterial intake and infant disease, and microbiological testing of expressed breast milk identifies bacterial growth in >75% of samples, with 7%-36% of all samples containing pathogens.¹⁴³ The screening of raw expressed mother's milk delivered for premature infants showed that these infants with an undeveloped immune system were frequently exposed to large numbers of milk-associated coagulase-negative Staphylococci, whereas the exposure to S. aureus and gram-negative aerobic bacteria was less frequent.¹⁴⁴ Nevertheless, the authors expressed their surprise that they were unable to document any adverse events that could be directly related to ingestion of bacteria in raw breast-milk. Since the benefits of using a mother's own milk for preterm infants out-weigh any potential disadvantages they started an education program to improve the bacteriological quality of the delivered milk instead of reducing the pathogenic risks by pasteurisation. To improve the safety of expressed milk, a HACCP system (control system of hazard-reducing control points) was developed in which the contamination and multiplication of hazardous microorganisms could be reduced.¹⁴³

Besides a technological approach to find solutions, it is necessary to look for an ecological approach in which the environmental prerequisites and modes of transmission of contamination become clear. What are the ways and measures to improve the immune system of young children so that they can handle the load of infectious bacteria that will always be present in the environment? At the farm level, it is necessary to understand why some animals can become resistant to strains of EHEC without becoming EHEC shedders. Rather than focussing on the presence of EHEC in individual animals, it makes sense to look at the absence as well and on environmental factors that inhibit their growth. In expressed human milk, not EHEC, but S. aureus, presents one of the biggest health issues. In a study on the role of commensals in breast milk, several bacterial strains were found that were very effective in the suppression of the growth of S. aureus. It was stated, that "the published studies of breast milk microbiota are focused on pathogenic bacteria as possible sources of infection. In contrast, the species diversity and the importance of the normal bacterial flora have received little attention so

far," a statement, which seems also to be true for cow's raw milk. The highest inhibition came from *Lactococcus lactis*, a strain producing a bacteriocin, nisin.¹⁴⁵

Another relevant issue is to evaluate successful farms, those that are able to deliver raw milk over a long period of time without any evidence of zoonotic illness among its customers. To learn from these farms can be an important tool for best practices in relation to hygienic management. Last but not least, rather than focusing only on health risks there should be a balance between benefits and risks. It therefore makes sense not only to investigate case studies from patients with zoonotic diseases but also to look at individual cases described by farmers of patients who say that they can only consume raw milk. This is also stated by Vuitton,¹⁴² who calls for a more balanced judgement of raw milk. He gives an example from Norway, where raw milk can be sold legally if packaging indicates that "the product is associated with a marked increased risk of transmission of severe diseases." The author¹⁴² suggests this warning be completed with "but the product is associated with a significant protection against other types of severe diseases" and concludes "that this would be scientifically correct!" A differentiation of milk qualities, absent in the discussion about milk dangers, is necessary.¹⁴⁶ Raw milk intended for consumption fresh or for raw milk processing in cheese, is a distinctly different product than collected bulk milk meant for pasteurisation. Our modern opinion of milk should be connected with the reductionist views on food quality:¹⁴⁶ "we do not have the multiple terms that the Inuit have for snow, because, until the last fifty years or so, milk was surprisingly undifferentiated, relative at least to our modern retail cornucopia." We should add to this that an ecologicalenvironmental focus as well as a focus on case-orientation could open the ways of understanding why raw milk supports human health. Another research focus is needed, one that is more connected with words like health support and health promotion.

In the scientific discussion, single cases, are always discounted as anecdotal. But for some reason, individual cases of diseases are taken more seriously than individual cases of healing, which is often seen as a coincidence. There are accepted scientific methods to evaluate the cause and effect within single cases¹⁴⁷ and methods and prerequisites are analysed dealing with complex situations of healing. A better scientific evaluation of single cases, both negative and positive, would be helpful to balance the present polemic between advocates on both sides of the borderline. A significant number of people benefit from milk only after they find that although they are unable to drink commercial milk for a number of reasons, they are able to enjoy drinking milk that is raw.

102

7.1. Reducing Risks by Adopted Regulations

The possibility of consuming raw milk is very different in Western countries. The control of raw milk delivery varies between countries even in the 1900s. In the UK, grades of milk were introduced in 1917 as a possible answer to the high prevalence of tuberculosis in UK herds; however, the adoption of the system was too slow and therefore pasteurisation was introduced gradually by dairy companies in the inter-war period.¹⁴⁸ In Germany since 1931, there is the possibility of selling a legally controlled raw shop milk, called Vorzugsmilch. This milk is made available for direct consumption as raw milk, and not produced from the background of any further standardisation or heating process within a creamery. In the monthly veterinarian control of bulk tank milk samples a differentiation is made between process indicators looking after hygiene and bacteria in connection with zoonotic diseases. There is a zero-tolerance for the presence of pathogens like Campylobacter, Salmonella, EHEC, Brucellosis, Tuberculosis, whereas process indicators are used to control and improve the milking and cleaning practice. In Italy and Slovenia, raw milk vending machines are upcoming ways to sell raw milk and in most European countries raw milk can be bought in small amounts directly from a farm if a warning label is applied to say that the milk should be heat treated (>70 °C) before consumption, storing temperatures should be below 5 °C and consumption should be within three days. Testing milk from vending machines in Italy, not a single pathogen in any of the samples was found.¹⁴⁹ Thirty-three farms served 60 machines and in total 3,800 litres of milk per day were sold. In previous studies, however, in their screening, one E. coli O157:H7, one C. jejuni and one S. typhimurium were detected from three out of 99 raw milk samples collected from vending machines in the same area. Several studies have shown that the so-called 'Vorzugsmilch' or 'certified grade-A raw milk' in Germany has a much higher hygienic and zoonotic standard than 'normal' raw milk sent to creameries and to be pasteurised. These studies showed that, due to the attention to hygienic handling and processing of raw milk, in combination with a strict control system of raw milk for sale, there is already a huge reduction of potential health risk. Total bacterial counts and zoonotic bacteria are low or even absent in 'Vorzugsmilch' in comparison to 'normal' raw milk. Recently, in Vorzugsmilch, the maximum levels for coliform bacteria have been lowered as an answer to the risk of EHEC. Risks of Campylobacter, Listeria and Salmonella from 'Vorzugsmilch' can be negligible.^{120, 150–152}

In an editorial comment Jay-Russell¹⁵³ plies for additional raw milk regulations such as pathogen testing, sanitation standards, and warning labels. On the other hand she signalise also a need for more research into best management practices for raw dairy production at farms with a long history of producing safe milk without any contamination. The five main testing parameters suggested¹⁵⁴ include somatic cell count (SCC), plate counts, preliminary incubation, coliform counts, and specific pathogen testing. One of the most important recommendations for the sale of raw milk at farms is the strict control on cow health (udder), zoonosis and process hygiene at the time of milking. The certified German farmers who produce Vorzugsmilch are under a strict HACCP system and strict microbiological standards. In Certified Grade A milk as Vorzugsmilch lower overall bacterial counts, somatic cell counts and the absence of several zoonotic bacteria were found in comparison to general raw milk (Table I). The German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment controls the zoonotic pressure in food.^{150–152} In the German zoonotic data, raw milk and raw Vorzugsmilch is presented separately and the data from 2008 to 2010 show the same findings as other studies (Table II). In general, hardly any positive samples for zoonotic bacteria were found and the indicators for a hygienic process quality of Vorzugsmilch is in most cases much better than general raw milk samples.

The routine control of the German Association of producers of Vorzugsmilch (BDVM) reported that in the last 15 years milk was sampled for EHEC: in the examination of about 100 milk samples per year from the Vorzugsmilch deliverers up to the present time only one single test for EHEC was positive. It shows that there is hardly any potential risk within this type of milk.¹⁵⁵

These reports suggest that the presence of pre- and postharvest control measures to effectively reduce contamination might be related to the reduction in the pathogens in raw milk, suggested as one of the measures to reduce the zoonotic danger,¹⁵⁶ although a 100% risk reduction is illusive. If we make the comparison with the development of a HACCP for expressed mother's milk in relation to the risk assessment for preterm children, Cossey et al.¹⁴³ should be

 Table I. Microbiology and somatic cell counts of general raw milk

 compared to certified Grade-A milk (Vorzugsmilch) in Germany.¹³⁹

	Raw milk	Vorzugsmilch	
Farms sampled (N)	115	35	
Milk samples (N)	149	74	
Somatic cell count (\times 1,000) ml ⁻¹	190	160	
Total bacterial counts (\times 1,000) ml ⁻¹	49.0	8.7	
Escherichia coli ml ⁻¹	1.1	0.08	
Coliform bacteria ml ⁻¹	110	10	
STEC ml ⁻¹	0.7	0.0	
Salmonella ml ⁻¹	0.0	0.0	
Campylobacter ml ⁻¹	0.0	0.0	
Listeria ml ⁻¹	10.1	16.2^{a}	
Bacillus cereus ml ⁻¹	8.1	0.0	
Staphylococcus aureus ml ⁻¹	0.02	0.08	

STEC = shiga-toxin producing subtypes of E. coli.

 a All positive samples were found at one single farm where a range of samples was taken.

Table II. The percentage of positive samples for several zoonotic bacteria of general raw milk (raw) and Vorzugsmilch (VZ) samples in Germany (2008–2010); (derived from Refs. [150–152]).

	Year					
	2008		2009		2010	
Raw milk type	Raw	VZ	Raw	VZ	Raw	VZ
Samples (N)	ca.100	ca.150	ca.300	ca.175	ca.300	30
STEC ml ⁻¹	4.9	1.8	1.5	0.0	1.4	0.0
MRSA ml ⁻¹	nd	nd	4.1	nd	4.7	10.0
Salmonella ml ⁻¹	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Campylobacter ml ⁻¹	0.8	1.3	0.8	0.0	1.9	0.0
Listeria ml ⁻¹	0.0	0.5	1.2	1.8	4.6	0.0
Yiersinia ml ⁻¹	4.8	1.6	9.1	1.4	9.3	3.5

STEC = shiga-toxin producing subtypes of *E. coli*; MRSA = methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*; nd = not determined.

quoted, when they said: "Those who believe that the number or type of bacterial contaminants ingested with milk can be assumed to affect the incidence and severity of illness, especially in preterm infants, should not attempt to define safe limits, but rather should consider **not** feeding raw expressed milk to high-risk infants." This might also be true for raw cow's milk.

8. CONCLUSION: RAW MILK, HEALTH OR HAZARD

—Pasteurisation of milk negatively affects the digestibility and the protection against asthma and atopy. Immunological properties present in raw milk are lost or changed through milk heating. A range of epidemiological studies pinpointed raw farm milk as the protective agent, both in farm and in non-farm children. The protective elements within raw milk are only beginning to be understood and may be complex.

—Medical doctors and official governmental bodies do not promote the consumption of general raw milk because of its reputation as potential vehicles of zoonotic illness, especially for those groups who might profit most from raw milk intake: Young children and pregnant women. With regard to food safety it is necessary to discriminate between different types of milk. Raw milk is far more than just milk that has not been pasteurized. To improve the safety of raw milk, which can be delivered for direct consumption, increased hygienic standards during the processing and delivery of raw milk is helpful, like in the German Vorzugsmilch.

—It is impossible to reach 100% zoonotic safety in raw milk delivery. The pressure to reach 100% safety, on the other hand, can frustrate the development of a raw milk market. It makes sense to evaluate and understand examples of farms, where long-term relationships are present between consumers and raw milk suppliers and there have not been any incidence of disease. The immune system

and health status of raw milk consumers should be investigated as well.

—Rather than working to repress zoonotic bacteria we should be investigating their ecology to understand the circumstances under which they become a danger to human beings.

—A case-to-case approach is a good scientific tool to evaluate positive and negative effects from raw milk intake within a small or limited number of consumers or patients. Case control studies on raw milk consumption are necessary to evaluate the impact on health.

—It is becoming necessary to use molecular techniques to discriminate between STEC strains. Not every STEC means an endangered milk sample. Even though we know less about the other gastrointestinal infectious agents it is likely that the same is true for them.

Conflict of Interest

There is no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgments: I am very thankful to Dr. Ted Beals (Michigan, USA) for his discussions and comments plus assistance in editing the paper for English usage.

References and Notes

- Y. Itan, B. L. Jones, C. J. Ingram, D. M. Swallow, and M. G. Thomas, *BMC Evol Biol.* 10, 36 (2010).
- A. H. Lichtenstein, L. J. Appel, M. Brands, M. Carnethon, S. Daniels, H. A. Franch, B. Franklin, P. Kris-Etherton, W. S. Harris, B. Howard, N. Karanja, M. Lefevre, L. Rudel, F. Sacks, L. van Horn, M. Winston, and J. Wylie-Rosett, *Circulation* 114, 82 (2006).
- W. L. Claeys, S. Cardoen, G. Daube, J. De Block, K. Dewettinck, K. Dierick, L. De Zutter, A. Huyghebaert, H. Imberechts, P. Thiange, Y. Vandenplas, and L. Herman, *Food Control* 31, 251 (2013).
- M. Ruusunen, M. Salonen, H. Pulkkinen, M. Huuskonen, S. Hellström, J. Revez, M. L. Hänninen, M. Fredriksson-Ahomaa, and M. Lindström, *Foodborne Pathog Dis*. [Epub ahead of print] (2013).
- 5. D. E. Bauman and A. L. Lock, Update: Milk fat and human health—Separating fact from fiction, *Proceedings Cornell Nutrition Conference for Feed Manufacturers* (2012), pp. 66–76.
- K. Kuhnt, M. Baehr, C. Rohrer, and G. Jahreis, *Eur. J. Lipid Sci. Technol.* 113, 1281 (2011).
- M. Coppa, A. Ferlay, C. Chassaing, C. Agabriel, F. Glasser, Y. Chilliard, G. Borreani, T. Barcarolo, T. Baars, D. Kusche, O. M. Harstad, J. Verbič, J. Golecký, and B. Martin, *J. Dairy Sci.* Doi: 10.3168/jds.2012-6379 (2013).
- 8. M. R. Perkin and D. P. Strachan, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 117, 1374 (2006).
- 9. C. Braun-Fahrländer and E. von Mutius, *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 41, 29 (2011).
- G. Loss, S. Apprich, M. Waser, W. Kneifel, J. Genuneit, G. Büchele, J. Weber, B. Sozanska, H. Danielewicz, E. Horak, R. J. van Neerven, D. Heederik, P. C. Lorenzen, E. von Mutius, C. Braun-Fahrländer, and GABRIELA study group, *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 128, 766 (2011).

- 11. M. R. Perkin, Clin. Exp. Allergy 37, 627 (2007).
- 12. D. P. Strachan, *Thorax*, 55, 2 (2000).
- J. S. Alm, J. Swartz, G. Lilja, A. Scheynius, and G. Pershagen, Lancet 353, 1485 (1999).
- J. S. Alm, J. Swartz, B. Björkstén, L. Engstrand, J. Engström, I. Kühn, G. Lilja, R. Möllby, E. Norin, G. Pershagen, C. Reinders, K. Wreiber, and A. Scheynius, *Pediatr. Allergy Immunol.* 13, 402 (2002).
- H. Flöistrup, J. Swartz, A. Bergström, J. S. Alm, A. Scheynius, M. van Hage, M. Waser, C. Braun-Fahrländer, D. Schram-Bijkerk, M. Huber, A. Zutavern, E. von Mutius, E. Ublagger, J. Riedler, K. B. Michaels, G. Pershagen, and Parsifal Study Team, *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 117, 59 (2006).
- J. Riedler, C. Braun-Fahrländer, W. Eder, M. Schreuer, M. Waser, S. Maisch, D. Carr, R. Schierl, D. Nowak, E. von Mutius, and ALEX Study Team, *Lancet* 358, 1129 (2001).
- M. Waser, K. B. Michels, C. Bieli, H. Flöistrup, G. Pershagen, E. von Mutius, M. Ege, J. Riedler, D. Schram-Bijkerk, B. Brunekreef, M. van Hage, R. Lauener, C. Braun-Fahrländer, and PARSIFAL Study Team, *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 37, 661 (2007).
- C. Bieli, W. Eder, R. Frei, C. Braun-Fahrländer, W. Klimecki, M. Waser, J. Riedler, E. von Mutius, A. Scheynius, G. Pershagen, G. Doekes, R. Lauener, F. D. Martinez, and PARSIFAL Study Team, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 120, 1308 (2007).
- M. Barnes, P. Cullinan, P. Athanasaki, S. MacNeill, A. M. Hole, J. Harris, S. Kalogeraki, M. Chatzinikolaou, N. Drakonakis, V. Bibaki-Liakou, A. J. Newman Taylor, and I. Bibakis, *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 31, 1822 (2001).
- K. Radon, D. Windstetter, J. Eckart, H. Dressel, L. Leitritz, J. Reichert, M. Schmid, G. Praml, M. Schosser, E. von Mutius, and D. Nowak, *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 34, 1178 (2004).
- K. Wickens, J. M. Lane, P. Fitzharris, R. Siebers, G. Riley, J. Douwes, T. Smith, and J. Crane, *Allergy* 57, 1171 (2002).
- 22. S. Illi, M. Depner, J. Genuneit, E. Horak, G. Loss, C. Strunz-Lehner, G. Büchele, A. Boznanski, H. Danielewicz, P. Cullinan, D. Heederik, C. Braun-Fahrländer, E. von Mutius, and GABRIELA Study Team, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 129, 1470 (2012).
- J. Debarry, H. Garn, A. Hanuszkiewicz, N. Dickgreber, N. Blümer, E. von Mutius, A. Bufe, S. Gatermann, H. Renz, O. Holst, and H. Heine, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 119, 1514 (2007).
- 24. M. J. Ege, D. P. Strachan, W. O. Cookson, M. F. Moffatt, I. Gut, M. Lathrop, M. Kabesch, J. Genuneit, G. Büchele, B. Sozanska, A. Boznanski, P. Cullinan, E. Horak, C. Bieli, C. Braun-Fahrländer, D. Heederik, E. von Mutius, and GABRIELA Study Team, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 127, 138 (2011).
- W. A. Price, Nutrition and physical degeneration. La Mesa, CA: Price-Pottenger Nutrition Foundation (2004) [1939].
- M. Holbreich, J. Genuneit, J. Weber, C. Braun-Fahrländer, M. Waser, and E. von Mutius, *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 129, 1671 (2012).
- 27. J. Bostock, Med. Chir. Trans. 14, 437 (1828).
- 28. C. Flohr, S. K. Weiland, G. Weinmayr, B. Björkstén, L. Bråbäck, B. Brunekreef, G. Büchele, M. Clausen, W. O. Cookson, E. von Mutius, D. P. Strachan, H. C. Williams, and ISAAC Phase Two Study Team, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 121, 141 (2008).
- 29. M. J. Ege, I. Herzum, G. Büchele, S. Krauss-Etschmann, R. P. Lauener, M. Roponen, A. Hyvärinen, D. A. Vuitton, J. Riedler, B. Brunekreef, J. C. Dalphin, C. Braun-Fahrländer, J. Pekkanen, H. Renz, E. von Mutius, and Protection Against Allergy Study in Rural Environments (PASTURE) Study Team, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 122, 407 (2008).
- 30. M. J. Ege, C. Bieli, R. Frei, R. T. van Strien, J. Riedler, E. Ublagger, D. Schram-Bijkerk, B. Brunekreef, M. van Hage, A. Scheynius, G. Pershagen, M. R. Benz, R. Lauener, E. von Mutius, C. Braun-Fahrländer, and Parsifal Study Team, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 117, 817 (2006).

- M. J. Ege, R. Frei, C. Bieli, D. Schram-Bijkerk, M. Waser, M. R. Benz, G. Weiss, F. Nyberg, M. van Hage, G. Pershagen, B. Brunekreef, J. Riedler, R. Lauener, C. Braun-Fahrländer, E. von Mutius, and PARSIFAL Study Team, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 119, 1140 (2007).
- A. Lluis and B. Schaub, Curr. Opin. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 12, 158 (2012).
- 33. C. Roduit, R. Frei, G. Loss, G. Büchele, J. Weber, M. Depner, S. Loeliger, M. L. Dalphin, M. Roponen, A. Hyvärinen, J. Riedler, J. C. Dalphin, J. Pekkanen, E. von Mutius, C. Braun-Fahrländer, R. Lauener, and Protection Against Allergy–Study in Rural Environments Study Team, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 130, 130 (2012).
- 34. K. Wickens, P. Black, T. V. Stanley, E. Mitchell, C. Barthow, P. Fitzharris, G. Purdie, and J. Crane, *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 42, 1071 (2012).
- 35. A. Høst and E. G. Samuelsson, Allergy 43, 113 (1988).
- 36. O. M. Poulsen, J. Hau, and J. Kollerup, *Clin. Allergy* 17, 449 (1987).
- R. Korpela, L. Paajanen, and T. Tuure, *Michwissenschaft* 60, 3 (2005).
- 38. T. Roos, D. Kusche, and T. Baars, Testing milk allergic children in a double blind placebo-controlled trial, *Raw Milk, Health or Hazard? First International Raw Milk Conference*, edited by T. Baars, Prague, Czech Republique, May (2011), pp. 9–10.
- 39. A. H. Wijga, A. C. van Houwelingen, M. Kerkhof, C. Tabak, J. C. de Jongste, J. Gerritsen, H. Boshuizen, B. Brunekreef, and H. A. Smit, *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 117, 440 (2006).
- 40. C. Thijs, A. Müller, L. Rist, I. Kummeling, B. E. Snijders, M. Huber, R. van Ree, A. P. Simões-Wüst, P. C. Dagnelie, and P. A. van den Brandt, *Allergy* 66, 58 (2011).
- O. S. von Ehrenstein, E. von Mutius, S. Illi, L. Baumann, O. Bohm, and R. von Kries, *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 30, 187 (2000).
- 42. A. H. Wijga, H. A. Smit, M. Kerkhof, J. C. de Jongste, J. Gerritsen, H. J. Neijens, H. C. Boshuizen, B. Brunekreef, and PIAMA Study Team, *Thorax* 58, 567 (2003).
- 43. I. Kummeling, C. Thijs, M. Huber, L. P. van de Vijver, B. E. Snijders, J. Penders, F. Stelma, R. van Ree, P. A. van den Brandt, and P. C. Dagnelie, *Br. J. Nutr.* 99, 598 (2008).
- 44. S. Sausenthaler, S. Koletzko, B. Schaaf, I. Lehmann, M. Borte, O. Herbarth, A. von Berg, H. E. Wichmann, J. Heinrich, and LISA Study Team, Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 85, 530 (2007).
- 45. A. P. Simŏes-Wüst, L. Rist, A. Mueller, M. Huber, H. Steinhart, and C. Thijs, *Org. Agr.* 1, 161 (2011).
- 46. I. Bertschi, M. Collomb, L. Rist, P. Eberhard, R. Sieber, U. Bütikofer, D. Wechsler, G. Folkers, and U. von Mandach, *Lipids* 40, 581 (2005).
- 47. L. Rist, A. Mueller, C. Barthel, B. Snijders, M. Jansen, A. P. Simões-Wüst, M. Huber, I. Kummeling, U. von Mandach, H. Steinhart, and C. Thijs, *Br. J. Nutr.* 97, 735 (2007).
- A. Jaudszus, M. Krokowski, P. Möckel, Y. Darcan, A. Avagyan, P. Matricardi, G. Jahreis, and E. Hamelmann, *J. Nutr.* 138, 1336 (2008).
- 49. T. Baars, D. Kusche, G. Jahreis, and U. Geier, Org. Agr. (2013).
- 50. F. Leiber, M. Kreuzer, D. Nigg, H. R. Wettstein, and M. R. Scheeder, *Lipids* 40, 191 (2005).
- M. Collomb, U. Bütikofer, R. Sieber, B. Jeangros, and J. O. Bosset, Int. Dairy J. 12, 661 (2002).
- 52. G. Devereux, Pediatr. Pulmonol. 42, 663 (2007).
- 53. T. Baars, M. Schröder, D. Kusche, and W. Vetter, *Org. Agr.* 2, 13 (2012).
- 54. S. Landers and K. Updegrove, Breastfeed Med. 5, 117 (2010).
- 55. B. Blanc, Alimenta-Sonderausgabe 5 (1980).
- N. Fidler, T. U. Sauerwald, H. Demmelmair, and B. Koletzko, *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 501, 485 (2001).
- 57. T. R. Henderson, T. N. Fay, and M. Hamosh, J. Pediatr. 132, 876 (1998).
- J. Nutr. Ecol. Food Res. 1, 91-107, 2013

- 58. D. Silvestre, P. Ruiz, C. Martínez-Costa, A. Plaza, and M. C. López, *J. Hum. Lact.* 24, 371 (2008).
- 59. D. Silvestre, E. Ferrer, J. Gayá, E. Jareño, M. Miranda, M. Muriach, and F. J. Romero, *Biofactors* 26, 71 (2006).
- J. B. Ewaschuk, S. Unger, S. Harvey, D. L. O'Connor, and C. J. Field, Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab. 36, 175 (2011).
- **61.** D. van Zoeren-Grobben, J. Schrijver, H. van den Berg, and H. M. Berger, *Arch. Dis. Child.* 62, 161 (**1987**).
- H. Akinbi, J. Meinzen-Derr, C. Auer, Y. Ma, D. Pullum, R. Kusano, K. J. Reszka, and K. Zimmerly, J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol. Nutr. 51, 347 (2010).
- 63. J. E. Ford, B. A. Law, V. M. Marshall, and B. Reiter, J. Pediatr. 90, 29 (1977).
- 64. L. A. Hanson, Proc. Nutr. Soc. 66, 384 (2007).
- **65.** M. van Gysel, V. Cossey, S. Fieuws, and A. Schuermans, *Eur. J. Pediatr.* 171, 1231 (**2012**).
- D. Silvestre, M. C. López, L. March, A. Plaza, and C. Martínez-Costa, Br. J. Biomed. Sci. 63, 59 (2006).
- 67. S. A. Roberts and M. Severn, Br. Med. J. 2, 1196 (1978).
- K. M. Saarinen, Risk factors and characteristics of cow's milk allergy [dissertation]. Helsinki University (2000).
- 69. D. Dupont, G. Mandalari, D. Mollé, J. Jardin, O. Rolet-Répécaud, G. Duboz, J. Léonil, C. E. Mills, and A. R. Mackie, *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 54, 1677 (2010).
- 70. A. A. Kulmyrzaev, D. Levieux, and E. Dufour, J. Agric. Food Chem. 53, 502 (2005).
- C. Y. Song, W. L. Chen, M. C. Yang, J. P. Huang, and S. J. Mao, J. Biol. Chem. 280, 3574 (2005).
- H. Tomotake, M. Katagiri, M. Fujita, and M. Yamato, J. Nutr. Sci. Vitaminol (Tokyo) 55, 296 (2009).
- 73. C. Alessandri, S. Sforza, P. Palazzo, F. Lambertini, S. Paolella, D. Zennaro, C. Rafaiani, R. Ferrara, M. L. Bernardi, M. Santoro, S. Zuzzi, I. Giangrieco, A. Dossena, and A. Mari, *PLoS One* 7, e40945 (2012).
- 74. D. Dupont, G. Mandalari, D. Molle, J. Jardin, J. Léonil, R. M. Faulks, M. S. Wickham, E. N. Mills, and A. R. Mackie, *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 54, 767 (2010).
- 75. M. C. Yang, H. H. Guan, M. Y. Liu, Y. H. Lin, J. M. Yang, W. L. Chen, C. J. Chen, and S. J. T. Mao, *Proteins* 71, 1197 (2008).
- 76. H. Almaas, A. L. Cases, T. G. Devold, H. Holm, T. Langsrud, L. Aabakken, T. Aadnoey, and G. E. Vegarud, *Int. Dairy J.* 16, 961 (2006).
- 77. F. Roth-Walter, M. C. Berin, P. Arnaboldi, C. R. Escalante, S. Dahan, J. Rauch, E. Jensen-Jarolim, and L. Mayer, *Allergy* 63, 882 (2008).
- O. M. Poulsen, B. R. Nielsen, A. Basse, and J. Hau, *Allergy* 45, 321 (1990).
- **79.** C. G. Feng and A. M. Collins, *Food and Agr. Immunol.* 11, 251 (1999).
- J. Rytkönen, K. Valkonen, V. Virtanen, R. A. Foxwell, J. M. Kyd, A. W. Cripps, and T. J. Karttunen, J. Agr. and Food Chem. 54, 1500 (2006).
- U. K. Shandilya, R. Kapila, R. M. Haq, S. Kapila, and V. Kansal, J. Sci. Food Agric. 93, 2287 (2013).
- R. J. van Neerven, E. F. Knol, J. M. Heck, and H. F. Savelkoul, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 130, 853 (2012).
- 83. A. Vojdani, Nutrition and Metabolism 6, 22 (2009).
- 84. J. E. Lane-Claypon, J. Hyg. (Lond) 9, 233 (1909).
- 85. E. C. V. Mattick and J. Golding, Lancet ii, 703 (1936).
- 86. E. G. Brown, Report of Committee on Milk, Conference of State and Provincial Health Authorities of North America Public Health Reports (1896–1970), (1931), Vol. 46, pp. 1455–1460.
- 87. H. A. Channon and H. J. Channon, J Hyg. 36, 173 (1936).
- 88. R. E. Barnes and E. M. Hume, Biochem. J. 13, 306 (1919).
- M. F. Pottenger, Pottenger's Cats—A Study in Nutrition, Price Pottenger Nutrition Foundation Inc., La Mesa, California (1983).

- R. Sieber, P. Rüst, and B. Blanc, *Alimenta-Sonderausgabe* 49 (1980).
- 91. R. Wulzen and A. M. Bahrs, Physiol. Zool. 9, 508 (1936).
- 92. H. Krueger, Am. J. Phys. Med. 34, 185 (1955).
- J. Lansbury, L. W. Smith, R. Wulzen, and W. J. van Wagtendonk, Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases 97 (1950).
- 94. I. Narayanan, K. Prakash, N. S. Murthy, and V. V. Gujral, *Lancet* 2, 1111 (1984).
- 95. Y. Andersson, K. Sävman, L. Bläckberg, and O. Hernell, Acta Paediatr. 96, 1445 (2007).
- N. Montjaux-Régis, C. Cristini, C. Arnaud, I. Glorieux, M. Vanpee, and C. Casper, *Acta Paediatr.* 100, 1548 (2011).
- 97. J. M. Pettifor, H. Stein, A. Herman, F. P. Ross, T. Blumenfeld, and G. P. Moodley, J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol Nutr. 5, 248 (1986).
- 98. S. Williamson, E. Finucane, H. Ellis, and H. R. Gamsu, Arch. Dis. Child 53, 555 (1978).
- 99. G. Leighton and P. McKinlay, Milk Consumption and the Growth of School Children, Department of Health for Scotland, Edinburgh and London: HM Stationery Office (1930).
- 100. R. A. Fisher and S. Barlet, Nature 3207, 591 (1931).
- 101. J. Pollock, J. R. Soc. Med. 99, 323 (2006).
- 102. M. Ladd, H. W. Evarts, and L. W. Franks, Arch. Pediat. xliii, 380 (1926).
- 103. M. M. Kramer, E. Latzke, and M. M. Shaw, J. Biological Chem. 283 (1928).
- 104. M. C. Haug, Construction and application of a novel pRE25derived plasmid to monitor horizontal transfer of antibiotic resistance genes from Enterococcus faecalis to food and gut associated microbes in a colonic fermentation model [dissertation], ETH, Zürich, Switzerland (2010).
- 105. M. Roesch, V. Perreten, M. G. Doherr, W. Schaeren, M. Schällibaum, and J. W. Blum, J. Dairy Sci. 89, 989 (2006).
- 106. M. C. Haug, S. A. Tanner, C. Lacroix, M. J. Stevens, and L. Meile, *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* 78, 210 (2011).
- 107. S. Leisibach, Antibiotic resistance genes in food: Molecular identification and transfer between micro-organisms with emphasis on Enterococci [dissertation], ETH, Zürich, Switzerland (2004).
- 108. L. Meile, B. Niederer, A. Baumann, and S. Miescher-Schwenninger, *Mitt Lebensm Hyg.* 96, 3 (2005).
- 109. R. T. Garmo, S. Waage, S. Sviland, B. I. Henriksen, O. Østerås, and O. Reksen, Acta. Vet. Scand. 52, 11 (2010).
- 110. R. A. Bombyk, A. L. Bykowski, C. E. Draper, E. J. Savelkoul, L. R. Sullivan, and T. J. Wyckoff, *J. Appl. Microbiol.* 104, 1726 (2008).
- 111. B. Wilhelm, A. Rajić, L. Waddell, S. Parker, J. Harris, K. C. Roberts, R. Kydd, J. Greig, and A. Baynton, *Foodborne Pathog. Dis.* 6, 525 (2009).
- 112. R. Newkirk, C. Hedberg, and J. Bender, *Foodborne Pathog. Dis.* 8, 433 (2011).
- 113. S. D. Manning, A. S. Motiwala, A. C. Springman, W. Qi, D. W. Lacher, L. M. Ouellette, J. M. Mladonicky, P. Somsel, J. T. Rudrik, S. E. Dietrich, W. Zhang, B. Swaminathan, D. Alland, and T. S. Whittam, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 105, 4868 (2008).
- 114. A. García, J. G. Fox, and T. E. Besser, ILAR J. 51, 221 (2010).
- 115. L. Beutin and A. Martin, J. Food Prot. 75, 408 (2012).
- 116. E. Jakob, J. Hummerjohann, and M. Mühlemann, *ALP Forum* 91 (2012).
- 117. D. Werber, S. C. Behnke, A. Fruth, R. Merle, S. Menzler, S. Glaser, L. Kreienbrock, R. Prager, H. Tschäpe, P. Roggentin, J. Bockemühl, and A. Ammon, *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 165, 425 (2007).
- 118. K. H. Trček, Slov. Vet. Res. 48, 83 (2011).
- 119. R. Söderlund, I. Hedenström, A. Nilsson, E. Eriksson, and A. Aspán, *BMC Vet Res*, 8, 200 (2012).
- 120. M. Hartung and A. Käsbohrer, Fleischwirtschaft 91, 12, 101 (2011).
- 121. J. E. Schlesser, R. Gerdes, S. Ravishankar, K. Madsen, J. Mowbray, and A. Y. Teo, J. Food Prot. 69, 990 (2006).

- 122. C. Vernozy-Rozand, C. Mazuy-Cruchaudet, C. Bavai, M. P. Montet, V. Bonin, A. Dernburg, and Y. Richard, *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 105, 83 (2005).
- 123. E. Franz, A. H. van Hoek, F. J. van der Wal, A. de Boer, A. Zwartkruis-Nahuis, K. van der Zwaluw, H. J. Aarts, and A. E. Heuvelink, J. Clin. Microbiol. 50, 772 (2012).
- 124. A. Aspán and E. Eriksson, BMC Vet. Res. 6, 7 (2010).
- 125. N. Pradel, Y. Bertin, C. Martin, and V. Livrelli, *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 74, 2118 (2008).
- 126. M. Eppinger, M. K. Mammel, J. E. Leclerc, J. Ravel, and T. A. Cebula, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 108, 20142 (2011).
- 127. F. Diez-Gonzalez, T. R. Callaway, M. G. Kizoulis, and J. B. Russell, *Science* 281, 1666 (1998).
- 128. M. E. Jacob, G. L. Parsons, M. K. Shelor, J. T. Fox, J. S. Drouillard, D. U. Thomson, D. G. Renter, and T. G. Nagaraja, *Zoonoses Public Health* 55, 125 (2008).
- 129. D. Fernández, M. E. Sanz, A. E. Parma and N.L. Padola, J. Dairy Sci. 95, 5340 (2012).
- 130. M. E. Jonsson, A. Aspán, E. Eriksson, and I. Vågsholm, Int. J. Food Microbiol. 66, 55 (2001).
- 131. L. Matthews, I. J. McKendrick, H. Ternent, G. J. Gunn, B. Synge, and M. E. Woolhouse, *Epidemiol. Infect.* 134, 131 (2006).
- 132. I. D. Ogden, M. MacRae, and N. J. Strachan, *FEMS Microbiol Lett.* 233, 297 (2004).
- 133. A. Lal, S. Hales, N. French, and M. G. Baker, *PLoS One* 7, e31883 (2012).
- 134. A. Guh, Q. Phan, R. Nelson, K. Purviance, E. Milardo, S. Kinney, P. Mshar, W. Kasacek, and M. Cartter, *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 51, 1411 (2010).
- 135. J. Ellis-Iversen, Control of VTEC O157 and Campylobacter jejuni/coli on cattle farms – Effective interventions and implementation [dissertation], Utrecht University, Utrecht, The Netherlands (2009).
- 136. S. D. Miszczycha, F. Perrin, S. Ganet, E. Jamet, F. Tenenhaus-Aziza, M. C. Montel, and D. Thevenot-Sergentet, *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 79, 150 (2013).
- 137. C. L. Little, J. R. Rhoades, S. K. Sagoo, J. Harris, M. Greenwood, V. Mithani, K. Grant, and J. McLauchlin, *Food Microbiol.* 25, 304 (2008).
- 138. J. C. Brooks, B. Martinez, J. Stratton, A. Bianchini, R. Krokstrom, and R. Hutkins, *Food Microbiol.* 31, 154 (2012).
- 139. C. Coenen, Untersuchungen zum Vorkommen und zur Risikoeinschätzung pathogener Keime in Rohmilch und Rohmilchprodukten aus der Direktvermarktung [dissertation], Freie Universität, Berlin, Germany (2000).
- 140. W. Kneifel and S. Apprich, Raw milk quality versus raw milk safety—Walking a tightrope, *Raw Milk, Health or Hazard? First International Raw Milk Conference*, edited by T. Baars, Prague, Czech Republique, May (2011), pp. 11–13.
- 141. G. E. Gumpert, The raw milk revolution. Behind America's emerging battle over food rights. Chelsea green publishing, Vermont (US) (2009).
- 142. D. A. Vuitton, Risk versus benefit of raw milk consumption. WHO collaboration centre, University of France-Comté, Besançon, France (2009).
- 143. V. Cossey, C. Vanhole, A. Eerdekens, M. Rayyan, S. Fieuws, and A. Schuermans, *Neonatology* 103, 170 (2012).
- 144. B. J. Law, B. A. Urias, J. Lertzman, D. Robson, and L. Romance, J. Clin. Microbiol. 27, 1560 (1989).
- 145. M. P. Heikkilä and P. E. Saris, J. Appl. Microbiol. 95, 471 (2003).
- 146. P. Atkins, Society and Space 25, 967 (2007).
- 147. H. Kiene, Komplementäre Methodenlehre der Klinischen Forschung—Cognition-Based Medicine, Springer Verlag, Berlin, NY (2001).
- 148. P. Atkins, Lobbying and resistance with regard to policy on bovine tuberculosis in Britain, 1900–1939: An inside/outside model, edited

by M. Worboys and F. Condrau, Tuberculosis Then and Now, McGill-Queen's University Press, Montreal (**2010**) pp. 189–212.

- 149. F. Giacometti, A. Serraino, G. Finazzi, P. Daminelli, M. N. Losio, N. Arrigoni, S. Piva, D. Florio, R. Riu, and R. G. Zanoni, *Foodborne Pathog Dis.* 9, 293 (2012).
- **150.** M. Hartung, Erreger von Zoonosen in Deutschland im Jahr 2008, Bundesinstitut für Risikobewertung, Berlin, Germany (**2008**).
- 151. M. Hartung and A. Käsbohrer, Erreger von Zoonosen in Deutschland im Jahr 2009, Bundesinstitut f
 ür Risikobewertung, Berlin, Germany (2009).
- **152.** M. Hartung and A. Käsbohrer, Erreger von Zoonosen in Deutschland im Jahr 2010, Bundesinstitut für Risikobewertung, Berlin, Germany (**2010**).

- 153. M. T. Jay-Russell, Clin. Infect. Dis. 51, 1418 (2010).
- 154. R. D. Knutson, R. W. Currier, L. Ribera, and P. Goeringer, Asymmetry in raw milk safety perceptions and information: Implications for risk in fresh produce marketing and policy, Paper presented at "The Economics of Food, Food Choice and Health" Freising, Germany (2010).
- 155. R. Tschischkale, Raw milk hazards and safety: Vorzugsmilch (raw Grade A milk) in Germany, *Raw Milk, Health or Hazard? First International Raw Milk Conference*, edited by T. Baars, Prague, Czech Republique, May (2011), pp. 20–21.
- 156. S. P. Oliver, K. J. Boor, S. C. Murphy, and S. E. Murinda, Foodborne Pathog. Dis. 6, 793 (2009).

Received: 25 May 2013. Accepted: 9 July 2013.